
SCRUTINY : NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES AND PUBLIC PROTECTION

2.30 pm MONDAY, 30TH JANUARY, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 
and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Performance Report – Corporate Plan Priority 
Area 7 - A Sustainable Environment 
To consider the attached report 1 - 12

4. Performance Report – Community Safety 
To consider the attached report 13 - 36

5. Performance Report – Public Protection Service 
To consider the attached report 37 - 56

6. Performance Report – Corporate Property and 
Estates 
To consider the attached report 57 - 72

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair.

9. Scrutiny Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 73 - 84

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor D Roberts (Chair)

Councillors: L E Smart, H Barrett, J McCarthy, S Slater, 
W R Smith and Raymond Thomas

Co-optees: R Holdaway and N Mahoney

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000       www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan
Priority Area 7 - A Sustainable Environment

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were unsatisfactory because of the significance 

that waste management practices play on the success of the outcome.  The local 
authority has been unable to achieve the national waste recycling targets since 2003 
and frequently ranked lowest in Wales for recycling rates.

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2016), outcomes are good because the provisional data for recycling 
rates indicate that we are above the national target and in the upper quartile of local 
authorities in Wales. 

1.3. Our ambition is to achieve improvement in line with the national waste reduction 
targets and maintain a clean and tidy Merthyr Tydfil.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated.

Date Written 18 January 2017

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 30 January 2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

Corporate Plan - A sustainable environment
3.3. The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority area A 

Sustainable Environment.  This priority area seeks to prioritise effort within the wide 
range of activities to have a strategic focus on waste management and cleanliness 
activities to achieve the outcome:

a) People in Merthyr Tydfil will live in communities that are sustainable, clean, and 
energy efficient

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

A Sustainable Environment
4.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were unsatisfactory because of the significance that 

waste management practices play on the success of the outcome.  The local authority 
has been unable to achieve the national waste recycling targets since 2003 and 
frequently ranked lowest in Wales for recycling rates.

Key Indicators
March 2013
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2013
Wales

Municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted 49.1 % 52.3 %
Municipal waste sent to landfill 49.5 % 41.0 %
Cleanliness Index 65.5 67.6
Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 92.3 % 92.2 %
Empty homes returned to occupation 4.28 % 5.11 %
Highway cleanliness 96.0 % 95.8 %
Energy consumption from Street Lighting 3.74 GWh n/a

Page 2



5.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE

A Sustainable Environment
5.1. By 2018, we want to achieve improvement in line with the national waste recovery 

targets and maintain a clean and tidy Merthyr Tydfil.

Key Indicators
March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2018
Merthyr Tydfil

Municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted 60.0 % 64%
Municipal waste sent to landfill 30.0 % 5%
Cleanliness Index 72.1 72.1
Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 100 % 100% 
Empty homes returned to occupation 5.5% 5.5%
Highway cleanliness 100 % 100% 
Energy consumption from Street Lighting 1.00 GWh 1.00 GWh

6.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

A Sustainable Environment
6.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes are good because the provisional data for recycling rates 

(66.79per cent, Q1 & Q2) indicate that we are above the national target. However, the 
seasonal trend for Q3 and Q4 shows that the borough usually produces less recycling 
due to the absence of green waste. 

6.2. There have been improvements to the cleanliness of the environment (cleanliness 
index and highways cleanliness) and fly tipping clearances in 2015/16.  There were 
1234 reported fly-tipping incidents for Q1, Q2 & Q3 (2016/17) which has been cleared 
within 5 working days (100%). However, the local data for highway cleanliness has 
slightly decreased to 97.8per cent (to date). 

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2016
Wales

Municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted 61.6 % 60.2 %
Municipal waste sent to landfill 30.4% 18.1%
Cleanliness Index 67.5 68.4
Fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 94.7 % 95.3 %
Empty homes returned to occupation 6.47 % 11.1 %
Highway cleanliness 98.1 % 96.5 %
Energy consumption from Street Lighting 1.38 GWh n/a

Page 3



7.0 HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Waste Management Collaboration Project.

7.2. Riverside Project.

Initiatives completed
7.3. Street Lighting Renewal Project.

Lessons learnt
7.4. Following a Wale Audit Office (WAO) performance assessment of waste services, they 

identify that the local authority is making progress on our planned improvements in 
waste services.

7.5. As part of the review, the WAO made the proposal for improvement, to improve the 
availability and reliability of performance data in order to understand the story behind 
performance and to enable timely interventions to improve performance.

7.6. The proposal for improvement arisen from waste services identifying the need to 
improve the timeliness and reliability of its internal data.  The learning was from the 
action taken to put in place a recovery plan to take additional action to help it achieve 
the statuary recycling target of 58 per cent.  The recovery plan was not in place until 
January 2016.  If we had access to more timely data, we could have taken earlier 
intervention activity to improve its performance.

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New initiatives
8.1. Reduce the level and impact of fly-tipping.

9.0 THE WELLBEING DUTY (SS&WB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act became law in Wales on 01 May 2014, 

which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver services to 
those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and support 
they receive.

9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 
2015, which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural 
wellbeing of Wales.

Page 4



Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. Neighbourhood Services are contributing to the production of the wellbeing assessment 

for the WFG Act.  The wellbeing assessment will inform the new strategy for a 
Sustainable Environment, which will centre on the seven wellbeing goals and the five 
ways of working. 

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER: 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY
PORTFOLIO: NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 5



Appendix I Data

TITLE The percentage of municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 49.1 48.2 51.2 61.6 60.0

Wales 52.3 54.3 56.2 60.1

(-3.2) (-6.1) (-5.0) (1.5) ()

TITLE The percentage of municipal waste reused, recycled, or composted

Quarterly Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2015/16 Qtr. 1 Qtr. 2 Qtr. 3 Qtr. 4 2016/17 2016/17

MT 61.6  (66.32p)  (67.30p)  (63.92p)  (p) (66.79p) 60.0

Wales 60.1  (64.42p)  (65.80p)  (p)  (p) (65.12p)

(1.5) (1.41) () () () ()

(p) The data item is provisional

TITLE The percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 49.5 50.1 36.8 30.4

Wales 41.0 37.7 29.4 18.1

(8.5) (12.4) (7.4) (12.3) ()

TITLE The average score for the Cleanliness Index

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 65.5 67.7 67.5 67.5

Wales 67.6 68.7 67.9 68.4

(-2.1) (-1.0) (-0.4) (-0.9) ()

Page 6



TITLE The percentage of reported fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 92.3 95.7 92.4 94.7

Wales 92.2 95.0 93.1 95.3

(0.1) (0.7) (-0.7) (-0.6) ()

TITLE The percentage of private sector dwellings that had been vacant for more than 6 
months at 1 April that were returned to occupation during the year

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 4.28 5.15 5.53 6.47

Wales 5.11 9.23 11.76 11.08

(-0.83) (-4.08) (-6.23) (-4.61) ()

TITLE The percentage of highways inspected of a high or acceptable standard of 
cleanliness

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 96.0 95.4 92.9 98.1

Wales 95.8 97.5 96.9 96.5

(0.2) (-2.1) (-4.0) (1.6) ()

TITLE The energy consumption from Street Lighting (GWh)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 3.74 3.74 3.45 1.38 1.00 -

Wales - - - - - -

() () () () ()

Page 7



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2014

Jul
2014

Oct
2014

Jan
2015

Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Street Lighting Renewal 6.1

Waste Management Project 6.2

Riverside Project 6.3

Fly-Tipping Project 8.1

Page 8



Back

PROJECT (A) Street lighting renewal project

PROJECT MANAGER Street Lighting Officer

DESCRIPTION Merthyr Tydfil County Borough maintains 7,238 streetlights, the majority 
of which are high-pressure sodium (SON) units, which provide a 
white/peach coloured light output.  The lanterns are approximately 15 
years old and approaching the end of their design and working life.  In 
the financial year 2012/13 the electrical energy cost required to run the 
street lighting system was £400,250, and with the probability of 
increases in electricity tariffs, this cost is likely to rise and place an 
additional burden on the council's street lighting budget in future years.  
The likely increase in energy costs will have an adverse effect on our 
ability to maintain the existing street lighting service to its current 
operating regime.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Installing new energy efficient LED lanterns can save up to 73 per cent 
of energy demand.

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 March 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 31 March 2016

The project is now complete with all streetlights now upgraded to the 
new LED lanterns.  Energy consumption has reduced significantly, and 
by association, we expect our impact on the environment from energy 
consumption and carbon emissions will now reduce.

Page 9



Back

PROJECT (B) Waste Management Collaboration Project

PROJECT MANAGER Waste Strategy Officer

DESCRIPTION This project will deliver the long-term Waste Management Business 
Plan, which sets out the changes to the council's waste and recycling 
services, up to 2025.
This continues the work of the Waste Management Collaboration 
Project to implement the Waste Strategy to create greater opportunity to 
recycle household waste products in Merthyr Tydfil.  The next steps in 
this project are to:
 Divert residual waste to energy from waste treatment
 Reduce the amount of side waste being presented for collection by 

householders
 Review and implement changes to bulky household waste 

collections
 Deliver ongoing waste prevention marketing and behaviour change 

campaigns
 Improve the quality and capture of recyclable materials collected 

from kerbside collections

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Reduced waste sent to landfill and increasing recycling rates towards a 
zero waste Wales

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 18 January 2017

The local authority is making good progress delivering on our planned 
improvements in waste services.

Page 10



Back

PROJECT (C) Riverside Project

PROJECT MANAGER Property & Estates Manager

DESCRIPTION The Riverside Project is a composite project that consists of 
infrastructure works at Merthyr Vale and a programme of work to 
support acquisitions in Taff and Crescent Streets and works at the Civic 
Amenity Site.  The aim is to implement as much as possible of the 
residential-led, mixed use, redevelopment of the disused Merthyr Vale 
Colliery (known as Project Riverside).

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The scheme includes a primary school, which has already been built 
and is in use, together with a minimum of 230 dwellings (yet to be built) 
and ancillary land uses including a care home, retail, offices, and 
recreation areas.

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2018

PROJECT UPDATE 18 January 2017

The infrastructure construction works are complete, which has 
facilitated the first marketing campaign of development areas. A 
disposal of part has been agreed and is proceeding to completion, 
although a completion date has not yet been confirmed.
The acquisition of the remaining properties in Taff and Crescent Street 
continue by negotiation. A Compulsory Purchase Order may be 
necessary in order to complete all acquisitions and obtain clean title.

Page 11



Back

PROJECT (D) Fly-Tipping

PROJECT MANAGER Waste Management Officer

DESCRIPTION In order to tackle fly-tipping crime within Merthyr Tydfil, we will:
 Create a team to focus on fly-tipping incidents on council owned 

land
 Improve partnership working with organisations to tackle fly-tipping
 Develop community groups to assist with voluntary "community 

clean ups"
 Deploy covert cameras in "hot spot" areas
 Deliver publicity campaigns to inform residents and businesses of 

legitimate ways to dispose of their waste and encouraging them to 
report fly tipping

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Reduction in fly-tipping and a cleaner environment

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 20 January 2017

The service formed an Environmental Enforcement Team in February 
2016 to deal with fly-tipping offenders.  Over the past 11 months the 
team has gathered over 300 pieces of evidence which has resulted in 9 
successful persecutions (one currently pending). As a result of 
successfully clearing 100% of all reported fly-tipping (within 5 working 
days) the volume of work has significantly increased; therefore, more 
resources is required. The new post of Technical Admin Assistant has 
already been agreed and a report is going to Full Council on 25th 
January to recommend the recruitment of two internal Enforcement 
Officers. 

The Strategic Group meets weekly to address all fly-tipping issues and 
monitor performance.  

Page 12



Civic Centre, Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000           www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Community Safety

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In 2013, outcomes were judged as ‘Adequate’.  Home Office data showed an 

improvement trend over the previous 3 years with crime rates having improved 
on data collected at a local / national level in respect of substance misuse, 
domestic abuse and anti-social behaviour (ASB).  

1.2. In 2015, outcomes remained adjudged ‘Adequate’.  The complex nature of 
community safety functions continues to provide significant challenge with 
increased pressure on available resources being noted.  Steps to address this 
included contributing to the community safety partnership review across Cwm 
Taf to rationalise the meeting structure; refocusing measures reported against 
within the Single Integrated Plan to ensure an improved focus on positive 
community outcomes and supporting development of greater clarity across all 
contributing community safety partners to re-enforce joint accountability.  

Date Written 23 January 2017

Report Author Steve Peters & Julian Pike

Service Community Safety

Committee Date 30 January 2017

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



1.3. The ambition for community safety for 2016/17 is to fully engage with the new 
governance structures agreed by Cwm Taf PSB to ensure Merthyr Tydfil is a 
safer and more cohesive place to live.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in wales are required to secure continuous improvement in 

the exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for 
improvement.  This legal requirement is set out in the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2009.

Community Safety
3.2. Welsh Government wants communities to be a place where people feel safe to 

live and work now and in the future.  Achieving this means building on Wales’ 
strong tradition of community identity and self-help.  Tackling crime and the fear 
of crime is an important way to help people feel safer in their communities.

Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) 
Act 2015

3.3. On 30 June 2014, the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Bill was introduced to Welsh Assembly members.  The Bill placed a 
duty on Welsh Ministers, Local authorities and Local Health Boards to prepare 
and publish strategies aimed at ending gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence.  

3.4. The Bill received Royal Assent on 29th April 2015 and passed into legislation as 
an Act.  The Act will amongst other things:

 Improve arrangements to promote awareness of, and prevent, protect and 
support victims of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence;

 Introduce a needs-based approach to developing strategies which will 
ensure strong strategic direction and strengthened accountability;

Page 14



 Ensure strategic level ownership, through the appointment of a Ministerial 
Adviser who will have a role in advising Welsh Ministers and improving joint 
working amongst agencies across this sector; and

 Improve consistency, quality and join-up of service provision in Wales.

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
3.5. This Act introduced simpler, more effective powers to tackle a cross section of 

policing-related issues including anti-social behaviour; protection from sexual 
harm and violence; firearms; dangerous dogs; forced marriages etc.  The Act 
introduced 19 formal powers to replace the previous 6.

3.6. The key changes linked to anti-social behaviour included the introduction of the 
‘community trigger’ (reports of incidents of ASB a minimum of 3 times within 6 
months); this was intended to tackle persistent anti-social behaviour.

3.7. The Act also aimed to streamline formal tools:

- Police ‘Dispersal’ Powers – the power to direct individuals who were the 
likely cause/cause of crime or disorder away from a particular place and the 
confiscation of related items;

- Community Protection Notice – one order for local authorities to stop 
persistent environmental ASB like graffiti; neighbourhood noise or dog 
fouling (Level 1) or for Police and local authorities to deal with more serious 
crime and disorder and criminality.

- Civil Injunctions – designed to ‘nip bad behaviour in the bud’.  The 
injunction would carry a civil burden of proof, making it quicker and easier to 
obtain than previous tools.  For under 18s, a breach could be dealt with 
through curfews, supervision or detention, for adults a breach of an 
injunction could lead to a fine or imprisonment;

- Criminal Behaviour Orders – issued by the courts after conviction the order 
will ban named individuals from certain activities or locations.  A breach 
would see individuals face a maximum 5 year prison term.

3.8 From 1 July 2015 all public authorities are subject to a duty under section 26 of 
the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015, in the exercise of their functions, 
to have “due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into 
terrorism”. This duty is known as the Prevent duty.

Page 15



4.0 WHERE WE WERE
Anti-Social Behaviour

4.1 There was a continued reduction in overall crime levels noted during 2014/15 
with a reduction in vehicle crime comparative to historic trends also being noted.  

4.2 The introduction of Anti-Social Behaviour, Police and Crime Act 2014 has led to 
some changes which have moderately impacted on service delivery.  

Key Indicators
2014/2015
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2014/2015
Wales

Percentage of people who feel safe walking in 
their local area after dark.

72% -

Anti-social behaviour rates. 11.2% -
Overall crime level. 4,274 -

Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence
4.3 Over the period 2014/15, Merthyr Tydfil Specialist Domestic Violence Court 

(SDVC) continued to achieve increasing levels of successful outcomes and is 
now regarded as an area of best practice.  

Good inter-agency links between Teulu MAC; South Wales Police and other key 
stakeholders has supported improved outcomes for people.  An age appropriate 
‘Healthy Relationships’ programme had been introduced in primary schools 
across the County Borough and good inter-agency links among partners are in 
place.

Key Indicators
March 
2014/15
Merthyr 
Tydfil

March 
2014/15
Wales

Percentage of successful outcomes to Merthyr 
Tydfil Specialist Domestic Violence Court 
(SDVC).

91.2% -

Page 16



Number of Teulu and MARAC referrals. 176 (MARAC)
1451 (Teulu 

MAC)

-

Number of children at risk of domestic abuse. 48 -
Number of repeat incidents of domestic abuse. 21 -
Number of families accepted as homeless due 
to domestic abuse.

27 33

Offender Management
4.4 The Cwm Taf IOM Steering Group became fully integrated with IOIS, Police and 

Probation (CRC and NPS); this allowed a one-stop shop approach for working 
with offenders to be practiced.  The Local Authority noted some improved within 
the co-location structure was required (e.g.) the involvement of housing and 
safeguarding representatives.

4.5 Accurate performance data in relation to re-offending remained an issue; the 
delay in rolling out the national performance management system being the 
largest contributory factor to this. 

Key Indicators
March 
2014/15 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

March 
2014/15
Wales

Reoffending rates (adults). 33% -
Reoffending rates (youths) 50.7% 36.7%

Community Cohesion
4.6 A regional restructure for the delivery of national community cohesion outcomes 

had been completed across Cwm Taf.  Development of corporate training and 
e- earning programmes for equalities and community cohesion has been 
planned.  Discussion on the maintenance and development of the community 
cohesion website as a central hub for awareness-raising; the reporting of hate 
crime and other forms of community tension being considered.

4.7 The absence of a set budget to support community cohesion activity has 
impacted on the progress which was has been made.  Coupled with a reduction 
in resources across the community safety panorama in general, this has led to a 
reduction in capacity for multi-agency operations and awareness-raising.

Page 17



Key Indicators
March 
2014/15
Merthyr 
Tydfil

March 
2014/15
Wales

Amount of reported hate crime1. 74 incidents -
Improved public perceptions of communities. 76% -

Number of participants of equalities and 
community cohesion-related training and 
workshops.

56 -

Utilisation of Merthyr Tydfil’s Community 
Cohesion website.

228 hits -

Substance Misuse
4.8 During 2014/15 successes have been noted in the number of people accessing 

both the Children and Young People’s Substance Misuse Service and the 
Alcohol Brief Intervention service.  Additionally, improvements were made to the 
needle exchange provision across Merthyr Tydfil.  

4.9 Drug and alcohol referral rates to Health have increased which could be 
perceived as negative; however, this is a positive achievement as there is an 
increased awareness across professionals in recognising the links between ill 
health and alcohol/substance misuse.  Services face the challenge of a potential 
reduction in substance misuse grant funding in the coming years.

Key Indicators
March 2014/15
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2014/15
Wales

Percentage of adults who drink above the 
recommended guidelines.

40% -

Percentage of adults who report as binge 
drinking in the preceding week.

27% 26%

Number of alcohol/drug related hospital 
admissions.

172 (drug)
311 (alcohol)

-

Percentage of young people who offended 
with alcohol as a contributory factor.

24.8% -

1 Crime statistics are presented across England and Wales – Wales only data is unavailable for comparison at this time

Page 18



5.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE
Following a review of the strategic partnership landscape in Cwm Taf, led by the 
Regional Collaborative Board, it has been determined that a single Cwm Taf 
Public Service Board be created to take forward the seven well-being goals set 
out in the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In support of the 
PSB there will be a single Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership Board.  The 
Board will discharge the statutory responsibilities set out in the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 as Crime & Disorder Reduction Partnership at a Cwm Taf 
regional level.

Within the community safety field, annual targets are not set for a number of the 
measures reported on; however, to ensure members can identify progress 
made to date, data demonstrating progress made at 30th September 2016 has 
been included

Although targets/projections have been sought from key partners; a number of 
these were unfortunately unavailable at the time of producing this report.

Key Indicators
March 
2016/17
Merthyr 
Tydfil 

Actual 
progress 

recorded at 
31.12.2016

March 
2017/18
Merthyr 
Tydfil

Percentage of people who feel safe walking 
in their local area after dark.

N/A N/A

Reduce people’s perception of anti-social 
behaviour as a problem in their area.

N/A N/A

Reduce the level of anti-social behaviour. No target set 1,249 
incidents 

SWP data

TBC

Percentage of beneficiaries2 reporting an 
improvement in quality of life.

80% 90% N/A

Percentage of beneficiaries1 feeling safer. 70% 89% N/A
Percentage of successful outcomes in the 
Specialist Domestic Violence Courts.

No target set 80% N/A

2 People in receipt of specialist domestic violence support

Page 19



People who feel like they belong to the local 
area.

N/A Annually 
updated 

figure 
pending

N/A

People in the local area from different 
backgrounds get on well together.

N/A Annually 
updated 

figure 
pending

N/A

People in the local area treat each other 
with respect and consideration.

N/A Annually 
updated 

figure 
pending

N/A

Overall crime levels. No target set 3,903 
offences

SWP data

N/A

Percentage of young people offending for 
the first time with a substantive outcome 
aged 10-17 inclusive.

N/A Update not 
received3

N/A

Percentage of young people re-offending 
with a substantive outcome aged 10-17 
inclusive.

N/A Update not 
received3

N/A

6.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New initiatives

6.1. Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO) - in conjunction with legal ensure that 
a PSPO is considered borough wide on alcohol. PSPO is expected to be 
presented to Cabinet in February 2017.

6.2. In conjunction with the Area Planning Board deliver on the action plan in relation 
to drug litter. A series of Multi agency meetings have been running to monitor 
the drug litter issues over the last quarter of 2016. Last meeting on 05/12/2016 
agreed in the New Year a weekly/ bi weekly briefing should continue running for 
information sharing.  The multi-agency group will then meet in March to allow 
more time for analysis of any impact on numbers. In preparation for we will be 

3 Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service (YOS) is currently experiencing issues with data management both due to a change in the Police National 
Computer data and the local indicators data following recent software updates.  The Head of YOS is currently seeking a method to resolve these 
issues

Page 20



looking at supplementing street cleansing figures with additional numbers 
cleared by other agencies identified. 

6.3. MTCBC officers are fully engaged in the new Cwm Taf wide community safety 
governance arrangements. 

7.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Review, Evaluation and Re-focusing of Community Safety Measures

7.1. The primary source of performance management for the community safety 
agenda has been via the Single Integrated Plan (SIP).  As part of the SIP’s 
annual review process, the Community Safety team along with colleagues from 
key partnership organisations took part in a comprehensive review of the 
population and performance measures which were being used.   

7.2. The primary focus on the review was to measures used to date, plot these 
against a quality matrix [see Appendix III] to see whether they clearly 
demonstrated effort (i.e. how well staff delivered services) or effect (i.e. positive 
impact on communities).  This led to identification and refocusing of the 
measures which clearly evidenced the impact of community safety-related 
activity being delivered on the communities we served.  

7.3. As part of this refocus exercise, the format for reporting was also adjusted and 
the decision taken to outline all population measures collectively to offer a 
clearer overview of the whole community safety landscape – this would now be 
presented under one heading:  Safer, Integrated and Cohesive Communities.  
The detail of progress made during 2015-16 can be found under Point 5.

7.4. Two areas which had previously had measures within the SIP linked to 
community safety were removed as these measures were already been 
reported upon at other strategic groups.  These areas were:

- Substance Misuse:  a comprehensive update is reported to Cwm Taf Area 
Planning Board.  An annual update directly to Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board (PSB); and

Page 21



- Safeguarding Vulnerable People:  a comprehensive update is reported to 
Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board.  An annual update directly to Cwm Taf PSB.

 
7.5 It has been agreed that if there are issues which require ad hoc issues which 

should be considered by the PSB; these can be placed on an agenda as they 
arise and will be considered at the earliest opportunity.

Key Indicators
March 
2015/16
Merthyr 
Tydfil

March 
2015/16
Wales

Percentage of people who feel safe walking in 
their local area after dark.

72% 80%

Reduce people’s perception of anti-social 
behaviour as a problem in their area.

11.2% 26th out of 43 
forces

Reduce the level of anti-social behaviour. 2,175 
incidents

-

Percentage of beneficiaries4 reporting an 
improvement in quality of life.

89% -

Percentage of beneficiaries1 feeling safer. 98.75% -
Percentage of successful outcomes in the 
Specialist Domestic Violence Courts.

87% 82.9%

People who feel like they belong to the local 
area.

88% 82%

People in the local area from different 
backgrounds get on well together.

81% 79%

People in the local area treat each other with 
respect and consideration.

84% 79%

Overall crime levels. 4,735 -
Percentage of young people offending for the 
first time with a substantive outcome aged 10-17 
inclusive.

0.22%
(12 young 

people)

0.33%

Percentage of young people re-offending with a 
substantive outcome aged 10-17 inclusive.

52.6% 37.5%

4 People in receipt of specialist domestic violence support

Page 22



8.0 HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives/projects
(Full details in Appendix II)

8.1. DIVERT 18 to 25 

8.2. IRIS (Identification and Referral to Increase Safety) 

8.3. Drive Project 

8.4. The Cwm Taf Domestic abuse perpetrator project 

8.5. CWMTAF Bureau

Initiatives completed
8.6. Review of community safety landscape – a review and rationalisation of 

Community Safety landscape to deliver effective, sustainable arrangements for 
the future across Cwmtaf. 

8.7. Review and refocus of measures within the Single Integrated Plan.

8.8. Using new legislative powers contained within the Anti-Social Behaviour, Police 
& Crime Act 2014, the three properties at the epicentre of the anti-social and 
criminal behaviour, were closed.

8.9. Merthyr Tydfil Global Village (MTGV) 

Lessons learnt
8.10. Governance arrangements and accountability are now on a Cwm Taf Regional 

basis for Community Safety with the Community Safety Board, feeding into the 
Strategic Partnership Board and Public Service Board.  

8.11. Staff are developing a greater understanding of the new community safety 
landscape and the practical aspects of its implementation.

8.12. 4,500 people attended the weekend’s activities. It was especially good to see 
the cross section of age-groups taking part in both performances and workshop 
activity, from art and craft to dance, music and song.

Page 23



8.13. 9 pre-event carnival workshops were targeted at youth groups, and 3 at the 
general public.  In total 179 people attended the 12 workshops; 158 young 
people and 21 aged 25+. Some adults enjoyed the public workshops so much 
that they helped out at the youth workshops and vice-versa!  There were also 
art, craft and performance workshops on the day. There were over 285 
participants at these workshops.  One of these involved creating a Wall of 
Welcome to new communities to Merthyr Tydfil. This installation piece is 
currently on display in Focal Point on the High Street. 

8.14. South Wales Police were in attendance and reflected that the day was unique.  
They were very positive with regards to the atmosphere at the event. Police 
reported only enjoyment from members of the public and no adverse incidents.  
We recruited 95 volunteers (not including trustees) who gave over 1,000 hours 
of service.

9.0 THE WELLBEING DUTY

9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act (SSWB) became law in Wales 
on 01 May 2014, which changes the way we assess people's needs and the 
way we deliver services to those people, where they will have a stronger voice 
to decide what care and support they receive.

9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 
29 April 2015, which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and 
cultural wellbeing of Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. Work with key colleagues to identify how the community safety team can work 

to adopt the 5 supporting principles of the Act (long-term; prevention; 
involvement; collaboration and intervention).

9.4. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 goals are specifically 
referred to in the newly formed Cwmtaf Community Safety Partnership Board. 

10.0 PERFORMANCE BOARD UPDATE

10.1. On 26th October 2016, community safety activity was reviewed as part of the 
Performance Board critical challenge session which was attended by senior 
officers within the Authority and elected members.  Discussions at the session 
led to the following action being set for the community safety partners:

Page 24



PROJECT TITLE Area Planning Board (APB)
PROJECT 
MANAGER

Steve Peters

DESCRIPTION 1. Through discussion Performance Board members agreed 
further discussion should be undertaken with the Area 
Planning Board re: the following issues:

- The issue of wasted, unused needles which has been 
identified in Merthyr Tydfil and which has resource/cost 
implications for service providers

- The opportunity for the APB taking on an 
information/data gathering role and ensuring key 
information is circulated across the partnership.

2. Liaise with South Wales Police to gather data on the impact 
of stop, search and seize operations to see if evidence of 
impact was available.

3. SP and JP to attend the Chief Officer’s meeting to discuss 
these issues more fully and begin to form a plan to progress 
the issues highlighted.

SOURCE Performance Board

EXPECTED 
BENEFIT(S)

- The development of a deeper understanding of issues 
affecting communities at Area Planning Board level 

- Improved access to community safety updates/information to 
support future planning.

START DATE 01/01/2017

FINISH DATE Ongoing

23 January 2017PROJECT 
UPDATE Street cleansing recording captures not only numbers of 

discarded needles but specifies where they are unopened. 
Given this level of detail we should be able to evidence if 
alteration to dispensing practices impacts on numbers of 
unopened needles discarded. 

Page 25



7 Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBO) to date excluding 
perpetrators from town.

Multi agency meetings recognised that a number of police stop 
searches turn up drug paraphernalia therefore it has been 
included where appropriate in CBOs.

PROJECT TITLE Mapping of the Requirements and Impact of Partnership 
Working

PROJECT 
MANAGER

Steve Peters

DESCRIPTION An internal exercise be undertaken to map out existing 
partnership arrangements both internally and with external 
organisations to identify:

a. Which partners we work with

b. What benefits do we get 

c. How partners organisations benefit from the arrangements 
and

d. How our communities benefit from the partnership working 
arrangements.

SOURCE Performance Board

EXPECTED 
BENEFIT(S)

It will enable us to:

1. Secure a clear picture of the scope, type and outcomes of 
partnership working being undertaken

2. Identify whether existing feedback methods of outcomes 
achieved contributions/ strengths and development areas are 
circulated widely enough

3. Identify where existing partnership arrangements require 
refocusing to ensure they continue to provide value for all 
partners and support positive outcomes for our communities.

START DATE 01/11/2016

Page 26



FINISH DATE Ongoing

23 January 2017PROJECT 
UPDATE Project scope and resource allocation is currently being 

considered with Business Change Unit.

10.2. Updates will be provided to the Scrutiny Committee regarding progress made 
against these actions.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER: COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY
PORTFOLIO: NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES AND PUBLIC PROTECTION

Does the report contain any issues that 
may affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 27



Appendix I Data

TITLE Percentage of people who feel safe walking in their local area after 
dark.

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - 74% 72%
Annual 
figure 

pending 

None 
set -

Wales - - 80%

() () () () ()

TITLE Reduce people’s perception of anti-social behaviour as a problem in 
their area  **  NEW MEASURE INTRODUCED 2015/16  **

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - 23% 11.2%
Annual 
figure 

pending

None 
set

Wales N/A N/A N/A N/A

() () () () ()

TITLE Reduce the level of anti-social behaviour.

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - 157 166 2,175 1,249 
incidents

None 
set

Wales - - - 7,243

() () () () ()

Page 28



TITLE Percentage of beneficiaries* reporting an improvement in quality of 
life/wellbeing  **  NEW MEASURE INTRODUCED 2015/16  **

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - 89% 90% 80%

Wales - - - 86.5%

() () () () ()

TITLE Percentage of beneficiaries* reporting feeling safer  **  NEW 
MEASURE INTRODUCED 2015/16  **

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - 98.75% 89% 70%

Wales - - - 86%

() () () () ()

TITLE Percentage of successful outcomes in the Specialist Domestic 
Violence Courts.

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - 90.1% 84% 87% 80% None 
set

Wales - - - 82.9%

() () () () ()

TITLE People who feel they belong to the local area.  **  NEW MEASURE 
INTRODUCED 2015/16  **

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

Page 29



MT - - - 88%
New 
data 

pending

None 
set

Wales - - - 80%

() () () () ()

TITLE People in the local area from different backgrounds get on well 
together.  **  NEW MEASURE INTRODUCED 2015/16  **

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - 81%
New 
data 

pending

None 
set

Wales - - - 79%

() () () () ()

TITLE People in the local area treat each other with respect and 
consideration.  **  NEW MEASURE INTRODUCED 2015/16  **

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - 84%
New 
data 

pending

None 
set

Wales - - - 79%

() () () () ()

TITLE Overall crime levels (number)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

Page 30



MT - 3,682 4,274 4,735 3,903 None 
set

Wales - N/A N/A N/A

() () () () ()

TITLE
Percentage of young people offending for the first time with a 
substantive outcome aged 10-17 inclusive  **  NEW MEASURE 
INTRODUCED 2015/16  **

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - -

0.22%
(12 

young 
people)

None 
set

Wales - - - 0.33%

() () () () ()

TITLE Percentage of young people re-offending with a substantive outcome 
aged 10-17 inclusive  **  NEW MEASURE INTRODUCED 2015/16  **

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA 
Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - 52.6% None 
set

Wales - - - 37%

() () () () ()

Page 31



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr

2014

Jul

2014

Oct

2014

Jan

2015

Apr

2015

Jul

2015

Oct

2015

Jan

2016

Apr

2016

Jul

2016

Oct

2016

Jan

2017

18-25 DIVERT 
project (ASB)

IRIS project (DA&SV)

Drive (DA&SV)

Cwm Taf DVPP 
(DA&SV)

Global Village 
(cohesion)

Cwm Taf Bureau 
(YOS)

Page 32



PROJECT 18-25 DIVERT PROJECT

PROJECT MANAGER RCT Community Safety Team 

DESCRIPTION The principal aim of the project is to reduce offending and prevent 
re-offending in the 18-25 year old age category, as this is the 
most prolific age group for offenders. The Cwm Taf project aims 
to achieve reductions through a range of methods, such as 
drawing upon the success of Youth Offending Services in 
reducing offending in the under 18 age group. 

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Reducing offending in the under 18 age group

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE

 Since the project’s launch in April 2016, the project team has 
worked with and diverted 113 young adults away from the 
criminal justice service.

 Young adults receiving support from the project are also 
signposted to other appropriate referrals for ongoing support 
(e.g.)  referrals have been made to Communities 4 Work; the 
Supporting People project; the drug and alcohol support team; 
Job Centre Plus and South Wales Fire and Rescue

 The young adults taking part in the project engage in 
‘restorative interventions’ (where appropriate); the aim of these 
are to educate the young adults about the pitfalls of crime, and 
enable them to access support thereby reducing their 
likelihood of re-offending.

PROJECT IRIS (Identification and Referral to Increase Safety)

PROJECT MANAGER Safer Merthyr Tydfil and Women’s Aid RCT

DESCRIPTION IRIS is a GP based domestic violence and abuse (DVA) training, 
support and referral programme.  Funded by the South Wales 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Cwm Taf University Health 
Board the project will operate initially for 2 years. IRIS is a 
collaboration between primary care and third sector organisations 
in Cwm Taf specialising in DVA namely; Safer Merthyr Tydfil and 
Women’s Aid RCT

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Identification of victims in order for appropriate support to be 
provided 

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE

 34 of the 41 GP practices across Cwm Taf have been 
recruited, 21 practices have received all 3 training sessions 
and are therefore deemed fully IRIS aware

Page 33



 Referrals have been received from all but one of the trained 
practices

 152 referrals received to date.  57 of these referrals are in 
relation to victims disclosing for the very first time.  

GP feedback:
-  ‘already making a massive difference to our patients.’
-  ‘Can’t believe how quickly you’ve got her into services.’ 
-  ‘very enlightening and educating seminar. Has really made 

me think and (I’m) far more aware. Stats very alarming’.
Victim voice:

-  Rung police with support from IRIS - has built trust in the 
police by reporting everything

-  Feels listened to and taken seriously

PROJECT DRIVE

PROJECT MANAGER SMT 

DESCRIPTION Drive Project is a community-based intervention for perpetrators 
(service users) of domestic abuse whose victims are assessed as 
at a high risk of significant harm or fatality, aged 16 years and 
over. The service will offer a risk and needs led response that 
proactively works with this potentially involuntary client group in a 
multimodal way; striving for behavioural and attitudinal change. 
The service, delivered in the context of multi-agency response, 
will develop a tailored intervention plan that meets needs, 
addresses offending and motivates active engagement in 
activities that will produce sustained behavioural change; whilst 
keeping the risk to victims paramount.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Reduction of Domestic Abuse 

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE

44 cases allocated to the DRIVE team up to November 2016 with 
24 Initial Contact Strategies having been completed.    2 cases 
are on hold due to CJS proceedings and 2 service users are not 
being contacted due to safety issues.  There are a further 16 
cases currently at the information-gathering stage or pending 
case set-up.   

The third Case Manager commenced employment on 1st 
November 2016 and completes the team.  Each service user has 
a minimum 10 month intervention therefore we are approaching 
the stage where cases will start to be reviewed and exit strategies 
put in place.

Page 34



PROJECT CWM TAF DVPP

PROJECT MANAGER SMT

DESCRIPTION The Cwm Taf Domestic abuse perpetrator project is a programme 
for perpetrators who voluntarily want to change their abusive 
behaviour (these individuals and their partners generally wish to 
remain together).The perpetrators complete up to 10 individual 
sessions then attend a group work session once per week for up 
to 20 weeks. These sessions can also be supplemented by 
couple sessions. The programme has been running in RCT for 2 
years, it was rolled out this year to Merthyr Tydfil

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Reduction of Domestic Abuse

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE

Referrals to this programme have been extremely slow in Merthyr 
Tydfil.  Contact has been made with partner agencies and a 
number of meetings have been attended to explain the 
programme and referral pathway.  To date, 9 referrals have been 
received.  Because of the low referral number, group sessions 
have yet to commence.

PROJECT GLOBAL VILLAGE

PROJECT MANAGER Dr Lesley Hodgson

DESCRIPTION Merthyr Tydfil Global Village (MTGV) was established in 2005 and 
is held annually. The festival developed through initial discussions 
that took place within the Multi Agency Diversity Forum (MADF) – 
a partnership of local statutory and voluntary organisations. 
address issues of diversity and hate crime.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Address issues of diversity and hate crime.

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE

 4,500 people attended the weekend’s activities. It was 
especially good to see the cross section of age-groups taking 
part in both performances and workshop activity, from art and 
craft to dance, music and song.  9 pre-event carnival 
workshops were targeted at youth groups, and 3 at the 
general public.  In total 179 people attended the 12 
workshops; 158 young people and 21 aged 25+. Some adults 
enjoyed the public workshops so much that they helped out at 
the youth workshops and vice-versa!

Page 35



 There were also art, craft and performance workshops on the 
day. There were over 285 participants at these workshops.  
One of these involved creating a Wall of Welcome to new 
communities to Merthyr Tydfil. This installation piece is 
currently on display in Focal Point on the High Street. 

 South Wales Police were in attendance and reflected that the 
day was unique.  They were very positive with regards to the 
atmosphere at the event. Police reported only enjoyment from 
members of the public and no adverse incidents. 

 We recruited 95 volunteers (not including trustees) who gave 
over 1,000 hours of service.

PROJECT (G) CWM TAF Bureau

PROJECT MANAGER Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service

DESCRIPTION The year on year reduction of First Time Entrants into the criminal 
justice system is attributable to the YOS continued investment in 
the development of early intervention and preventative services 
as well as its’ links with partner agencies and their preventative 
strategies. This investment has included the development of the 
YOS “Bureau” process in dealing with Out of Court Disposals and 
tailoring packages of support based upon need and risk. This has 
been instrumental in shifting workload to an earlier point in the 
system and preventing an escalation and entrenchment within the 
criminal justice system.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) - A reduction in first time entrants to the Youth Justice 
system

- A more tailored package of support for the young people 
in need of support

- A greater focus on the early intervention and prevention 
work undertaken

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE

No update is available for this quarter’s report as a result of data 
management issues within Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service and 
South Wales Police.  These issues are currently being reviewed 
and a resolution for the problem is currently being sought.  

Page 36



Civic Centre, Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Public Protection Service

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In 2013, outcomes for the Public Protection Service were judged as ‘Adequate’.  

Service compliance was completed, 100% of high risk premises being inspected to 
ensure food safety, high compliance with health and safety to protect the public’s 
health and wellbeing.  The service laboured to inspect businesses within 28 days of 
their due date: this was attributable to an irregular schedule of inspections and a 
reduction in staff capacity following restructure.  Evidence of risk assessment was 
clearly available.  

1.2. In 2015, outcomes remained judged as ‘Adequate’.  Services incorporated changes in 
legislation (e.g.) the Consumer Rights Act 2015 has introduced different powers to 
Trading Standards staff.  A marked increase in instances of fly tipping was noted.  
Also, an improved focus on the issue of child sexual exploitation was achieved.  
Services supporting these areas have been reviewed and refocused to meet changing 
demands.     

Date Written 23 January 2017

Report Author Steve Peters 

Service Public Protection (Trading Standards, Licensing, 
Environmental Health and Registrars)

Committee Date 30 January 2017

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



1.3. For 2016/17 the Public Protection Service ambition remains to protect personal, 
environmental, economic and social well-being through policy, regulation and 
education for the communities we serve. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and discussed.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Consumer Rights Act 2015
3.2. The Consumer Rights Act replaced 3 major pieces of consumer legislation:

- The Sale of Goods Act;
- The Unfair Terms of Consumer Contracts Regulations; and
- The Supply of Goods and Services Act.

3.3. The Consumer Rights Act introduces:

- 30 days to get a refund for a faulty item:  after 30 days, whether a consumer is 
entitled to a refund depends on how long they have owned the product;

- A Tiered Remedy System:  there are three 'tiers' of remedy available to the consumer: 
their right to have a faulty item repaired or replaced; if either of these fail, the right to a 
price reduction or to reject the product and receive a refund;

- Failed repairs:  After one failed attempt by the retailer to repair or replace a faulty item, 
you're entitled to ask for a refund or price reduction;

- A second repair or replacement:  If you don't want a refund or price reduction, you 
have the right to request another repair or replacement at no cost to the consumer;

- Deductions from refunds:  No deduction can be made from a refund in the first six 
months after purchase. The only exception to this is motor vehicles, where a reasonable 
reduction may be made for the use the consumer had of the vehicle; 

Page 38



- Digital content rights:  This new law gives consumers rights in relation to online digital 
content that is paid for, digital content supplied free with other paid for items and digital 
content supplied on a physical medium, such as a DVD;

- Unfair terms in consumer contracts:  It will now be easier for consumers to challenge 
hidden fees and charges.  Now the key terms of a contract, including price, may be 
assessed for fairness unless they’re both prominent and transparent;

- Pre-contract information:  The Act states that if a retailer provides pre-contract 
information in relation to a service and the consumer takes this information into account, 
the service must comply with that information.  

The Act confirms all products must be of satisfactory quality; fit for purpose and as 
described.  It also offers consumers information which makes it easier for them to 
challenge hidden fees and charges; delivery rights etc.

Deregulation Act 2015

3.4. The Deregulation Act came into law having received Royal Assent on 26 March 2015.  
The Act provides for the removal or reduction of burdens on businesses, civil society, 
individuals, public sector bodies and the taxpayer.  This includes areas such as 
insolvency; the use of land; housing and development; transport; communications; the 
environment; alcohol; education & training and sport and entertainment.

Food Hygiene and Food Standards Act 1999

3.5. The production, processing, distribution, retail, packaging and labelling of food stuffs are 
governed by a significant amount of laws, regulations, codes of practice and guidance. 
Authorities are audited by the Food Standards Agency against a Feed and Food Law 
Enforcement Standard which sets out the minimum standards of performance expected 
from local authorities across the full range of their feed and food law enforcement 
activities. The local authority food law regulatory system is being delivered effectively: 
compliance levels are high, improving year on year; the highly successful Food Hygiene 
Rating Scheme has resulted in significant improvements in standards and consumers 
are better informed than ever before. 

3.6. A Food Standards Agency paper, “Regulating our Future – Developing the FSA’s New 
Approach to Regulating Food Businesses” presented to the FSA Board meeting on the 
18th May 2016 outlines the FSA proposal to review delivery options of official controls 
and includes the following statements: “This programme of work will redefine how we 
gain assurance that businesses are doing the right things for consumers. Those ‘right 
things’ are, for the time being, defined by our interpretation of EU and domestic 

Page 39



legislation in relation to food, so our initial focus is going to be on redesigning the 
assurance system and driving up compliance.”

Housing (Wales) Act 2015 - Rent Smart Wales

3.7. Rent Smart Wales process landlord registrations and grant licences to landlords and 
agents who need to comply with the Housing (Wales) Act 2014. The date that 
landlords/agents need to comply is 23rd November 2016. Local Authorities are integral 
in ensuring the credibility of the scheme.  

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

Food Safety

4.1 During 2014/15, the Food Safety team delivered on the key elements of the Food Safety 
Plan.    

Key Indicators
2013/14 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2013/14 
Wales

2014/2015 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2014/15 
Wales

The percentage of food businesses that are 
broadly compliant with food hygiene

85.21% 90.33% 90.86% 94.19%

The percentage of completed inspections of all 
high risk premises in accordance with the Food 
Law Code of Practice

100% N/A 100% N/A

The percentage of new businesses identified 
that were subject to a risk assessment visit or 
returned a self-assessment questionnaire

95.88% N/A 93.48% N/A

Fly-Tipping

4.2 The Public Protection Unit (PPU) used to oversee and respond to incidents of fly-tipping 
across the County Borough.  However, following a significant rise in incidents of fly-
tipping, the Local Authority agreed to create and draw together a specific team of 
officers to manage this issue and from February 2016; the responsibility for fly-tipping 
transferred over to this new team.

Key Indicators
2013/14 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2013/14 
Wales

2014/2015 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2014/15 
Wales

The percentage of fly-tipping incidents that lead 
to enforcement activity

4.46% N/A 8.56% N/A

Page 40



Registry Services (Births, Deaths and Marriages)

4.3 The PPU oversees Registry Services.  These services are highly legislated and 
monitored directly by the Home Office.  To date, only 2 measures have been included 
on the PPU Strategy on a Page.

4.4 Members should note that Home Office Immigration Intelligence is unable to provide 
separate figures for Section 24 reports in respect of suspected sham marriages; civil 
partnerships and immigration offenders.

Key Indicators 
2014/2015 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2014/15 
Wales

2015/2016 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2015/16 
Wales

Number of reports of suspected sham 
marriages / civil partnerships and immigration 
offenders.

0 N/A 0 N/A

Number of suspicious certificate applications 
referred to Merthyr Tydfil Registry Office

0 N/A 1 N/A

4.5 Trading Standards and Licensing

Historically, national performance indicators for Trading Standards were usually based 
around an inspection driven regime.  Indicators therefore tended to be number based 
with no real tangible outcomes.  There were no national indicators developed for the 
Licensing service.  The Trading Standards and Licensing service now operates on a 
National Intelligence-driven model.  New measures are therefore required to reflect this 
different way of working. 

5.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE
Food Safety

5.1 In the future, it is anticipated a number of factors could impact on how services are 
delivered (e.g.) new technologies; new sources of food; climate change etc.  We will 
continue to ensure compliance with all relevant food safety/standards will be sustained 
whilst developing our systems to meet any new and/or emerging challenges. 
 

5.2 The Directors of Public Protection in Wales have proposed to the FSA that a licensing 
scheme for food businesses be introduced that can help streamline regulatory delivery, 
improve information flows, strengthen assurance and ensure that food businesses can 
demonstrate that they are able to produce food that is safe and what it says it is before 
they start trading.  Such a scheme will be a key component of a fair and proportionate 
resourcing arrangement.     

Page 41



Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

The percentage of food businesses that are broadly 
compliant with food hygiene

93.38% 95%

The percentage of completed inspections of all high 
risk premises in accordance with the Food Law Code 
of Practice

100% 100%

The percentage of new businesses identified that 
were subject to a risk assessment visit or returned a 
self-assessment questionnaire

86.75% 88%

Trading Standards & Licensing

5.3 Over the past few years, a diminishing resource base for local authorities has been 
noted. To maximise the impact of available resources we will retain our focus on early 
intervention and prevention; seek to investigate opportunities for collaborative working 
(where appropriate) whilst also pursuing greater efficiency and effectiveness of service 
delivery (Outcome Focused Redesign).  We will seek to sustain and develop the 
support offered to businesses whilst ensuring compliance with all relevant legislation. 

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Consumers receive goods/services in line with their 
statutory rights

80% 80%

Resources are placed to appropriate operations; 
investigations are conducted in a thorough, 
professional manner and lead to successful 
outcomes for communities.

80% 80%

The Local Authority meets its statutory requirements 100% 100%
Illegal activities appropriate for legal action are 
brought to court and convicted and the opportunity 
for potential harm by unsafe and non-compliant 
goods/ services is reduced.

100% 100%

Percentage of consumers satisfied with the overall 
service

100% 100%

6.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Page 42



Food Safety

6.1 The Food Safety team delivered on key elements of last year’s plan.  However, it was 
necessary to employ a casual member of staff for a period of 3 months to facilitate this 
success.

6.2 An improvement was again noted in the number of premises that were broadly 
compliant for food safety.  This improvement has been assisted by the introduction of a 
corporate policy on the operation of the scheme in Council-run premises, those 
businesses that utilise Council run premises or apply for financial assistance from the 
Authority.  

6.3 Not all existing high risk businesses were inspected within 28 days of their due date, or 
new businesses inspected within 28 days of commencement of trading as required by 
the Food Law Code of Practice.  It is notable the service improved on last year’s 
performance for existing businesses (92% of high risk businesses being inspected 
within 28 days of their due date compared to 78.4% the previous year). 

6.4 However, performance declined in terms of new businesses: only 40.74% of new 
businesses were inspected within 28 of commencing trading in 2014/15 compared to 
31.25% in 2015/16.  This is a resource issue which has been identified as a risk to the 
service year on year as a result of a reduction in capacity, additional workload and the 
removal of overtime payments which has exacerbated the position.  

The Service will continue to seek to minimise the impact by prioritising our efforts in 
dealing with those premises that present the greatest risk to public health.

Key Indicators
2015/16 
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2016/17 
Merthyr 
Tydfil at 

31/12/2016
The percentage of food businesses that are broadly 
compliant with food hygiene

93.38% 94.18%1

The percentage of completed inspections of all high 
risk premises in accordance with the Food Law Code of 
Practice

100%
(200 

inspections)

79.6% (234 
out of 294) on 

target
The percentage of new businesses identified that were 86.75% 82.70%

1   Broadly compliant figures are compiled for return from 1st April to 31st March so this figure is interim and is likely to change 
at end of financial year. The end of financial year figure is reported to WG as PPN009.

Page 43



subject to a risk assessment visit or returned a self-
assessment questionnaire

Fly Tipping

6.5 From February 2016 responsibility for fly tipping transferred to a new team outside of 
the Public Protection and Housing Service and will in future be reported on by 
Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Team Manager.  

Registry Services (Births, Deaths and Marriages)

6.6 The numbers returned by the Authority to the Home Office as required by them over the 
last 2 years are extremely low.  It was therefore felt that reporting such low numbers 
was meaningless in terms of indicating performance and setting targets.  Although 
returns to the Home Office will still be made it is not intended to report the measures 
internally in the future.

Trading Standards & Licensing

6.7 There were no specific measures linked to Trading Standards and Licensing within the 
PPU Strategy on a Page.  To rectify this situation, we have now includes a number of 
measures to demonstrate the scope of Trading Standards & Licensing services across 
the County Borough and their impact on communities.

6.8 In the run up to the Christmas period the Licensing section launched Operation Protect. 
This was a joint Operation with South Wales Police looking at the Taxi trade in Merthyr 
Tydfil. Late night patrols were carried out with where a number of vehicles were stopped 
to ensure the vehicles and drivers were correctly licensed. Following intelligence 
received a successful undercover test purchase was booked with an unlicensed driver 
and vehicle. The matter is currently listed for court.

6.9 The Trading Standards Service executed two warrants of entry on Merthyr Tydfil 
residential premises where a volume of counterfeit product was seized. Investigations 
are continuing. A large quantity of counterfeit board games were also seized from a stall 
on the outdoor market in the run up to Christmas.

6.10 Court Cases: An unlicensed Taxi Driver was prosecuted and was ordered to pay fines 
and costs totalling £1651. An unlicensed Scrap Metal Collector was prosecuted and 
was ordered to pay £630 in fines and costs. An individual selling counterfeit goods via 
Facebook was prosecuted and ordered to pay £880 in fines and costs.

Page 44



6.11 There are a further 8 cases currently going through the court process.

Key Indicators
March 
2015/16
Merthyr 
Tydfil

2016/17
Merthyr 
Tydfil at 

31/12/2016
Consumers receive goods/services in line with their 
statutory rights

80% 82%

Resources are placed to appropriate operations; 
investigations are conducted in a thorough, professional 
manner and lead to successful outcomes for 
communities.

80% 72%

The Local Authority meets its statutory requirements 100% 99%
Illegal activities appropriate for legal action are brought 
to court and convicted and the opportunity for potential 
harm by unsafe and non-compliant goods/ services is 
reduced.

100% 100%

Percentage of consumers satisfied with the overall 
service

100% Survey being 
conducted in 
January 2017

7.0 HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives/projects 
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1 Rent Smart Wales - A memorandum of understanding relating to the implementation of 
the scheme has now been agreed between the 22 LA’s and Rent Smart Wales with 
funding from the WG being provided. Landlords and agents have until the 23rd 
November 2016 to register and obtain a licence as appropriate

7.2 Officers have undergone a BTEC Level  7 Advanced Professional Certificate in 
investigative practice funded from Proceeds of Crime money

7.3 A new public protection software package went live from the 5th July 2016

Initiatives completed
7.4 Operation Protect – Compliance exercise on the taxi trade 

7.5  Intelligence led  seizures of counterfeit product

7.6 Successful legal proceedings for unlicensed trading and supply of counterfeit goods 
with a significant number also within the court process.

Page 45



    
7.7  Due to the work of Rent Smart Wales (RSW) and officers from Bridgend and this 

authority, RSW were successful in a Residential Property Tribunal (RPT) appeal against 
their decision to name a landlord and his wife (due to association) as not fit and proper 
to hold a licence due to the husbands relevant Fraud and Theft Convictions.  The 
husband and wife who are landlords in Merthyr Tydfil and elsewhere and have now put 
a licensed agent in place at all their rental properties in Wales. This is the first ever RPT 
decision on the Fit and Proper criteria used to determine the granting of a licence and 
has been hailed as a significant event in meeting the outcomes of the legislation to 
improve the management of and housing conditions within the private rented sector.

7.8  As a result of a carer and a resident of a home in Cardiff falling some distance into a lift 
shaft, killing the resident instantly and causing life changing injuries to the carer, safety 
inspections within the private care home sector were undertaken focusing on safety of 
lifting equipment (including a detailed look at the use of any emergency override keys), 
falls from height, scalding of residents, bedrail safety and the risk from Legionella 
bacteria.  As a result of the inspections and the contraventions identified, the Service 
issued safety notices to every home that was visited. 

7.9  Enforced Sales Procedure (ESP) – a notice has been signed by the Chief Executive 
that legally starts the process of the sale of a property in Dowlais that has been the 
subject to deterioration and associated problems to nearby residents.  

Lessons learnt 
7.10 Support from the Police is crucial in undertaking taxi trade exercises due to their powers 

to stop vehicles. 

7.11 Intelligence led model of working within Trading Standards is a more effective way of 
working; social media is the new ‘market’ for illegal sales. 

7.12 The service has to prioritise its investigations in comparison with the amount of 
intelligence being received.

7.13 There is a need to ensure our legal processes are as ‘slick’ as they can be whilst still 
meeting legal requirements.

7.14 There is a lack of any formal procedures within Care Homes to control the use of lift 
override Keys.

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

Page 46



New initiatives
8.1 From July 2016 the Public Protection software database changed from Northgate M3 to 

Tascomi Ltd. Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Grants are now operating 
the new system and our IT colleagues built a ‘front end’ to access the historical data on 
Northgate M3. Other colleagues including waste are also using the system for service 
requests. It was planned to have the Licensing Service operational by the 1st December 
2016 (the date we ended the annual licence with our current software suppliers) but that 
has been delayed and we have had to extend our support with IDOX, suppliers of 
Lalpac our Licensing software package. The Tascomi software is cloud based and can 
be accessed from a web browser. In the short term ensuring that reporting requirements 
are met by the new system will be a priority. In the medium term the ambition is that the 
new system will facilitate more agile and remote working. Tascomi Ltd are improving 
their agile working offering by altering their software in January 2017. We await the 
implementation of those improvements. A working group with other authorities has been 
set up in January 2017 to look at ensuring that governance, permissions and working 
procedures within authorities’ accord with the Data Protection Act principles.  

8.2 Deliver on the Rent Smart Wales priorities. They are to target commercial agents; LA 
problem landlords and where notified of complaints. As of the 9th January 2017 on an all 
Wales basis there are 9,500 landlord licence applications and 954 agent licence 
applications that need to be determined and issued. Rent Smart Wales are prioritising 
and have made a commitment to deal with agent licence applications first. Local 
Authority Access to the Rent Smart Wales database is now being progressed by means 
of a Confidentiality Agreement that each authority will need to sign. The content of the 
agreement has been reviewed and approved by our Information Security Manager. We 
are awaiting access to and training on the database.

8.3 A report has been prepared for Council on the 25th January 2017 to declare an Area 
Quality Management Area following elevated levels of nitrogen dioxide being detected 
on Twynyrodyn Road.  A detailed assessment concluded that it is necessary to declare 
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in accordance with our duty under the Section 
83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, which requires the Local Authority to designate 
those areas where the air quality objectives are not being met and where people are 
likely to be regularly present, as Air Quality Management Areas. Once an AQMA is 
designated, local authorities are required to prepare a separate air quality action plan 
within 12 months to 18 months following the date of designation.  The plan must identify 
the nature of the problem whilst detailing measures that are or will be actively 
implemented to improve air quality and quantifying their impact over time.

Page 47



8.4 A temporary Environmental Health Officer recruited to ease the workload in the 
Environmental Protection and Housing team appointed on a fixed term 6 month contract 
to be reviewed at the end of March 2017 has left the Authority after 8 weeks for 
employment for a similar post in another Local Authority. The impact is currently being 
monitored. As a result of temporary service pressure part time officers have increased 
their hours to increase capacity. Within Trading Standards the Senior Fair Trading 
Officer is currently on long term sick leave. Depending on funding, availability and 
suitably replacement cover is actively being sought. The intelligence officer engaged via 
Pertemps has given notice of his intention to no longer work for the Authority from the 
end of January 2017. Options to cover the activities of the role within the service and by 
other means are being considered. The Superintendent Registrar has given notice to 
terminate her employment on 31st March 2017. Work is currently being undertaken to fill 
the position from the 1st April 2017.     

9.0 THE WELLBEING DUTY

9.1 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act (SSWB) became law in Wales on 01 
May 2014, which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver 
services to those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and 
support they receive.

9.2 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3 Work with key colleagues to identify how the Public Protection Team support the 5 

supporting principles of the Act (long-term; prevention; involvement; collaboration and 
intervention.

10.0   PERFORMANCE BOARD UPDATE

10.1 On 26th October 2016, the Public Protection Service was reviewed as part of the 
Performance Board critical challenge session which was attended by senior officers 
within the Authority and elected members.  Discussions at the session led to the 
following action being set for the Public Protection Service:

Page 48



PROJECT TITLE Self-Evaluation Reports
PROJECT 
MANAGER

Steve Peters and Corporate Improvement Team

DESCRIPTION Ensure that when the next round of self-evaluation reports are 
prepared, individual reports are prepared for:

- Trading Standards

- Licensing

- Environmental Health and

- Home to School transport

SOURCE Performance Board

EXPECTED 
BENEFIT(S)

1. A clear picture of individual service strands can be collected and 
judgements will be offered on a service-based basis.

2. Opportunities for individual service strands to be 
positively/negatively affected by the outcomes of other services 
would be removed.

START DATE 01/12/2016
FINISH DATE 31st March 2017

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE
Work ongoing on schedule to meet deadline in readiness for the next 
formal round of self-evaluation.

Page 49



PROJECT TITLE ‘New Businesses’ Database
PROJECT 
MANAGER

Steve Peters

DESCRIPTION The existing ‘new businesses’ database should be developed to 
ensure multiple services can input details of new premises which 
could then be considered by other services (e.g.) for Food Standards, 
Trading Standards, Waste Services commercial contracts; Licensing 
and Planning.

SOURCE Performance Board

EXPECTED 
BENEFIT(S)

1. An improved holistic approach to ensure all new businesses have 
completed all relevant steps to ensure they are fully compliant with 
relevant legislative requirements and accessing all Local Authority 
services appropriately

START DATE 01/12/2016
FINISH DATE Completed

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE
On 07/12/2016, the Head of Public Protection and Housing issued an 
e-mail to key officers outlining the nature and purpose of the currently 
limited-access ‘new businesses’ database currently administered by 
Business Support Service officers for Public Protection Service.  In 
order to ensure the database was used to its maximum potential, an 
ICT project request form enabling other service managers to have 
‘Read Only’ access for this database has been actioned.  Planning; 
Regeneration; Licensing; Business Rates and Waste Services now 
have access to the database. This will help to ensure their particular 
service requirements were being met by any ‘new’ businesses.  
Additionally, managers across a number of teams have greater 
awareness of further intelligence which was not included on the 
database; they can now discuss this with colleagues across the 
Authority to develop intelligence.  The impact of this change will be 
reviewed after a suitable period of time.

Page 50



PROJECT TITLE Mapping of the Requirements and Impact of Partnership Working
PROJECT 
MANAGER

Steve Peters

DESCRIPTION An internal exercise be undertaken to map out existing partnership 
arrangements both internally and with external organisations to 
identify:

a. Which partners we work with

b. What benefits do we get from the partnership working 
arrangements

c. How partners organisations benefit from the arrangements and

d. How our communities benefit from the partnership working 
arrangements.

SOURCE Performance Board

EXPECTED 
BENEFIT(S)

It will enable us to:

1. Secure a clear picture of the scope, type and outcomes of 
partnership working being undertaken.

2. Identify whether existing feedback methods of outcomes achieved 
contributions/ strengths and development areas are circulated 
widely enough.

3. Identify where existing partnership arrangements require refocusing 
to ensure they continue to provide value for all partners and support 
positive outcomes for our communities.

START DATE 01/12/2016
FINISH DATE Ongoing

23 January 2017PROJECT UPDATE
Project scope and resource allocation is currently being considered 
with Business Change Unit.

10.2 Updates will be provided to the Scrutiny Committee regarding progress made against 
these actions.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER: COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY 
PORTFOLIO: NEIGHBOURHOOD 

SERVICES AND PUBLIC PROTECTION

Does the report contain any issues that 
may affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 51



Appendix I Data

TITLE The percentage of food businesses that are broadly compliant with food 
hygiene

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 84.26 85.21 90.86 93.38 94.18 at 
31/12/16 93.38% -

Wales 86.03 90.33 94.19 N/A

() () () () ()

TITLE The percentage of completed inspections of all high risk premises in 
accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 100 100 100 100 79.6 at 
31/12/16 100%

Wales TBC TBC TBC TBC

() () () () ()

TITLE The percentage of new businesses identified that were subject to a risk assessment visit 
or returned a self-assessment questionnaire

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - 93.00 95.88 93.48 82.70 at 
31/12/16 86.75%

Wales - - - -

() () () () ()

Page 52



TITLE The percentage of fly-tipping incidents that lead to enforcement activity

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - 4.46 8.56 6.851 Transferred to Paul Jones -  Jan 
2016

Wales - - - - N/A

TITLE Consumers receive goods/services in line with their statutory rights 
* NEW MEASURE FOR 2015/16 * 

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - 80 Establishing 
baseline 80%

Wales - - - -

() () () () ()

TITLE

Resources are placed to appropriate operations; investigations are 
conducted in a thorough, professional manner and lead to successful 
outcomes for communities
 NEW MEASURE FOR 2015/16 * 

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - - Establishing 
baseline 80%

Wales - - - -

() () () () ()

TITLE
The Local Authority meets its statutory requirements in relation to the 
consideration of licensing requests within the 20 day statutory timescale
 NEW MEASURE FOR 2015/16 *

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - - Establishing 
baseline 100%

Wales - - - -

() () () () ()

Page 53



TITLE

Illegal activities appropriate for legal action are brought to court and 
convicted and the opportunity for potential harm by unsafe and non-
compliant goods/ services is reduced 
* NEW MEASURE FOR 2015/16 *

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - - Establishing 
baseline 100%

Wales - - - -

() () () () ()

TITLE Percentage of consumers satisfied with the overall service 
* NEW MEASURE FOR 2015/16 *

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - - Establishing 
baseline 100%

Wales - - - -

() () () () ()

Page 54



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2014

Jul
2014

Oct
2014

Jan
2015

Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Street Trading Order

Sex Establishment 
Venue Policy
Back

PROJECT (A) Street Trading Order

PROJECT 
MANAGER

Paul Lewis

DESCRIPTION To provide a means to control the sale of goods from the highway, in 
particular, cars

SOURCE

EXPECTED 
BENEFIT(S)

Improved perception of some areas of MTCBC. Less traffic congestion

START DATE 07 September 2016

FINISH DATE 30 November 2016

PROJECT UPDATE 23 January 2017

Initial meetings have taken place colleagues in the MTCBC’s Legal 
section and portfolio members.  Legislation has already been adopted by 
Local Authority so introduction of a Policy required.  Initial scoping of 
policies in place at Neighbouring Authorities has taken place and a draft 
policy is currently being worked on.

Back

Page 55



PROJECT (B) Sex Establishment Venue Policy

PROJECT 
MANAGER

Paul Lewis

DESCRIPTION A Policy to allow for the determination Sex Establishment Venue 
Licensing applications

SOURCE

EXPECTED 
BENEFIT(S)

Clearer guidance produced by the Council for Members to determine 
such applications

START DATE 07 September 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 23 January 2017

The Authority has adopted the relevant legislation which enables us to 
have a policy. Best practice policies are being assessed. There has been 
a delay in progress as resources have been placed to look into illegal 
taxi operations and introduction of a new computer database.

Page 56



Civic Centre, Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Property and 
Estates

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

This report is for information only
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were adequate because good progress had been 

made in establishing a property review process and capital receipts were good, 
however, performance in relation to Energy Management was poor. 

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2016), outcomes are currently adequate. Good progress has been 
made in reducing office accommodation costs and increasing property review and 
capital receipts, although Energy Management remains an issue. Progress has been 
made with fundamental changes to strategy and corporate support, with a Senior 
Energy Manager now in post and a Carbon Management Plan being produced with a 
Carbon Management Team in place reporting on a quarterly basis. Statutory 
Compliance has improved significantly following implementation of an audit process.

1.3. By 2017, we want to complete 100% of statutory compliance audits an additional 5% 
reduction in office accommodation costs, and complete £600,000 of capital receipts.

Date Written 18 January 2017

Report Author Cheryllee Evans, Lisa Emerson, Mick Campbell

Service Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Date 30 January 2017

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

Service Vision
3.3. Our vision is to provide innovative and cost effective frontline services that allow people 

in Merthyr Tydfil to enjoy a clean, safe, attractive and sustainable environment.

Learning for Life
a) People in Merthyr Tydfil have the opportunity and aspiration to learn and develop their 

skills to maximise their potential.

 Corporate Property & Estates recognises that better school buildings can help 
enhance pupil performance and improve staff motivation.  We therefore are 
committed to working in partnership with schools to ensure that suitable educational 
buildings are provided, that are efficiently maintained, are fit for purpose and meet 
health and safety requirements.

Economic Development 
b) People in Merthyr Tydfil will benefit from a strong, sustainable and diverse economy.

 We want to help deliver a more prosperous economy, by assisting with the delivery 
of the VVP programme, Riverside Scheme, Project Connect, management of Orbit 
and providing additional advice to the Economic Development and Regeneration 
Team.  We also want to ensure local contractors are used as much as possible to 
boost the local economy.

Page 58



Healthy Lifestyles
c) People who live and work in Merthyr Tydfil are supported to enjoy a healthier and better 

quality of life.
 We want to ensure that suitable buildings are provided to deliver Social Services, 

Leisure, Library and other services which contribute to improved quality of life, where 
they are efficiently maintained, are fit for purpose and meet health and safety 
requirements. 

A Sustainable Environment
d) People enjoy a vibrant, attractive, safe and sustainable environment in which to live, 

work, play and visit.
 We will focus on two areas:

 Climate Change, and
 Sustainable Urban Development

We want to see improvement in the energy efficiency of the buildings by reducing 
energy use and only using the most energy efficient equipment available.  We want to 
continue to improve the efficiency of our Office Accommodation portfolio, by increasing 
the occupation ratios and reducing costs.

4. WHERE WE WERE

4.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were adequate because good progress had been 
made in establishing a property review process and capital receipts were good, 
however, performance in relation to Energy Management was poor.

Key Indicators
March 2013
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2013
Wales

The percentage of council buildings (over 1000m2) with a 
Display Energy Certificate rating A to D

55% 71%

The average Display Energy Certificate score of council 
buildings (over 1000m2)

106 87.6

The total costs of office accommodation £1,443,803 NA
The total energy produced from photovoltaic solar panels 
Megawatt hours, (x 1000,000)

0.937 Data not published

The total energy consumed (and carbon produced) by council 
owned and operated buildings with annual DEC’s
 Heating 8685 kWh/M2 14830 kWh/M2
 Electric 4376 kWh/M2 6727 kWh/M2
 Carbon 14733  tonnes 27387  tonnes
The value of capital receipts generated from the Property 
Review exercise

£68,342 NA

The net value of capital receipts £756,668 NA

Page 59



Statutory Compliance
4.2. The statutory compliance team was formed in 2012 to bring all council properties up to 

the required compliance level. Starting from a low level of compliance, there has been a 
significant increase in compliance.  

Building Maintenance
4.3. The amount of responsive work requests completed on time was initially improved, but 

then fell due to the contractor not supplying the information required therefore jobs 
could not be closed.  The contractor has been warned that the contract will be 
terminated if the information is not supplied and the KPI’s improve.

Energy Management
4.4. Although our average score on the Display Energy Certificates fell by 3% in 2011/12, 14 

out of the 31 buildings actually increased their energy consumption.  There was no 
change in the average scores in 2012/13; out of the 33 buildings which have DEC’s 17 
increased their energy use, 16 of which were schools over which we have no control of 
their energy use. The DEC scores cannot be compared like for like on an annual basis 
as the number of buildings which require a DEC fluctuates, in 2010 there were 22 
DEC’s lodged compared to 2012 when 46 were lodged.  

4.5. The Civic Centre has reduced its CO2 production by 22% from 2011 – 2013, although 
has still maintained a DEC score of F due to the scores for each grade being tightened 
every two years.   Also not all authorities submit information to the benchmarking unit 
and there are only 16 or 17 who do. 

4.6. The qualifying area for buildings which require DEC’s will also be reduced to 250m2 in 
2015. The PV’s installed on our buildings will reduce the DEC scores; however,  this will 
take up to another two years to feed through into the system as the scores are 
calculated annually in arrears and use the previous 12 months energy bills.  

4.7. Another disadvantage for Merthyr is that the DEC’s are calculated using the weather 
data for Cardiff which can be considerably milder compared to our location.  

4.8. There is a Welsh Government requirement to reduce energy consumption by 3% year 
on year and this requires funding to enable more energy efficient equipment to be 
installed.  Several little or no cost schemes have and will continue to be implemented; 
new boilers have been fitted in the Civic centre along with more efficient lighting in the 
one stop shop area and cavity wall insulation installed.  

4.9. Dowlais infant & junior schools have had new high efficiency boilers along with BMS 
controls installed this year.  Cyfarthfa and Pen Y Dre high schools have had lighting 
surveys and designs completed with a view to installing newer far more efficient lighting, 
with Cyfarthfa having had £30,000 spent last year to change some of it’s lighting to 
more efficient equipment.

Page 60



5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Statutory Compliance
5.1. By 2017, we want to complete 100% of statutory compliance audits on an annual basis.

Key Indicators
March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Wales

The percentage of council buildings (over 1000m2) with a 
Display Energy Certificate rating A to D

+3%

The average Display Energy Certificate score of council 
buildings (over 1000m2)

-3%

The total costs of office accommodation -5% NA
The total energy produced from photovoltaic solar panels 
(Megawatt hours, x 1000,000)

1100

The total energy consumed (and carbon produced) by council 
owned and operated buildings

-3%

The value of capital receipts generated from the Property 
Review exercise

£250,000

The net value of capital receipts £600,000

Building Maintenance
5.2. The ideal would be for all works requests will be completed within the timeframes but 

that is not practical due to the nature of the work and the nature of the staff raising 
works requests being of a non-technical background.  By using experience we have set 
a realistic target of 85% of requests being completed on time and this can be raised 
once it has been achieved.

Energy Management
5.3. A suitable Carbon Management Plan and Carbon Management team will be in place to 

drive forward both energy efficiency and carbon reduction in all work completed by the 
authority.  Suitable resources and funding will be in place to enable energy efficiency 
projects to be progressed.  This will improve both the sustainability of the area and 
reduce pollution from energy production. 

6. WHERE WE ARE NOW 

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

6.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2016), outcomes are currently adequate. Good progress has been 
made in reducing office accommodation costs and increasing property review and 
capital receipts, although Energy Management remains an issue. Progress has been 
made with fundamental changes to strategy and corporate support, with a Senior 

Page 61



Energy Manager now in post. Statutory Compliance has improved significantly following 
implementation of an audit process.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2016
Wales

The percentage of council buildings (over 1000m2) with a 
Display Energy Certificate rating A to D

55% 78%

The average Display Energy Certificate score of council 
buildings (over 1000m2)

104 85.9

The total costs of office accommodation £827,531 NA
The total energy produced from photovoltaic solar panels 
(Megawatt hours, x 1000,000)

799 Data not published

The total energy consumed (and carbon produced) by council 
owned and operated buildings with annual DEC’s
 Heating 3828 kWh/M2 13454 kWh/M2
 Electric 2010 kWh/M2 6122  kWh/M2
 Carbon 12074 tonnes 21779 tonnes
The value of capital receipts generated from the Property 
Review exercise

£169,266 NA

The net value of capital receipts £844,458 NA

Statutory Compliance.
6.2. The statutory compliance team carried out compliance audits on all sites during 2015 

and also completed condition surveys on 34 buildings  

Building Maintenance.
6.3. The amount of responsive work requests completed on time currently stands at 88% 

[May 2016] compared to 69% {August 2015 to February 2016 at the commencement of 
the contract].  Several complaints have been received from departments about the 
standard of the work being carried out and this has been relayed to the contractor and 
has been investigated with the workforce being replaced by new staff.                                                                                                                                                                       

Energy Management
6.4. Although our average score on the Display Energy Certificates fell by 2% in 2015, 13 

out of the 33 buildings actually increased their energy consumption, 18 reduced their 
energy consumption, 1 had no change and there was one new building added.  Out of 
the 13 buildings which increased their energy use, 11 of which were schools or leisure 
over which we have little or no control of their energy use.  The figures produced by 
Data Unit Wales are highly inaccurate as they are taken from the DEC’s.  The heating 
figure for energy use in 2016 shows a decrease of 44% but in reality it has only reduced 
by about 2% over the whole authority.  This is because the figures take no consideration 
of weather conditions, or the number of buildings involved.  Ty Keir Hardie was a large 
energy intensive building whereas Unit 5 although large is fairly energy efficient.  By the 

Page 62



end of February we hope to have baseline figures for all buildings, subject to receiving 
accurate information from British Gas.  Once the baseline is known we can then 
measure against this using accurate figures.

6.5. Unit 5 did increase its energy use but that was because of the extension and increased 
staff numbers coming into the building and affecting the DEC scores.  

6.6. The PV’s installed on our buildings will reduce the DEC scores but will take another 
year to feed through into the system as the scores are calculated annually in arrears 
and use the previous 12 months energy bills.  

6.7. There is a Welsh Government requirement to reduce energy consumption by 3% year 
on year and this requires funding to enable more energy efficient equipment to be 
installed.  

6.8. An additional energy officer was appointed on a part time basis in December 2015 and 
has carried out several energy audits to see how energy use can be reduced further.  
The energy reports have produced a list of improvements which will form the basis of 
the project plan which will be a live document changing as new projects are added and 
completed ones are closed out.  A Combined Heat & Power (CHP) unit has been 
installed in the Leisure centre utilising Invest 2 Save funding and should generate 
savings of approx. £30,000 per annum with a CO2 reduction of 108 tonnes. 

6.9. With procurement we are looking into energy savings frameworks which we can tap into 
to make the savings using Salix or Welsh Government interest free loans.   A Carbon 
Management Team was established in September 2016 which will drive forward a 
Carbon Management Plan for the next five years with an energy reduction target being 
set for each building or site.  However most other authorities are now starting their 
second Carbon Management Plan whilst we are just starting our first therefore we are 
approximately 5-7 years behind the others.

6.10. An energy baseline is currently being obtained for each building and automatic meter 
reading is being used wherever possible, this work should be completed by the end of 
February, but is reliant on British Gas being able to supply accurate information 
regarding bills which is something they have not been able to do for the last two years.

7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

Page 63



7.1. Riverside Project
7.2. 21st Century Schools – Afon Taf School remodelling and refurbishment
7.3. 21st Century Schools – New primary school at Ysgol Y Graig, Cefn Coed
7.4. Corporate Asset Management Programme
7.5. Physical Regeneration Programme including VVP Programme
7.6. Condition Survey Programme

Initiatives completed
7.7. Statutory Compliance Audits
7.8. Deliver a project to create new 5 a side football courts
7.9. New boilers for both Dowlais schools, also Troedyrhiw and Abercanaid schools
7.10. CHP installed in MTLC
7.11. Carbon Management Plan & Team established
7.12. Resurface sports pitch at Cae Mari Dwn
7.13. Office Accommodation Rationalisation Programme

Lessons learnt
7.14. All Departments to be involved in driving forward energy efficiency.
7.15. Apply for Salix funding as soon as possible to avoid delays

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New Initiatives
8.1. Continue to embed a corporate approach to Property Management
8.2. Review the leased property portfolio
8.3. Consider a property inspection regime to comply with advice received from the Councils 

insurers.
8.4. Establish energy baselines and set energy targets for all buildings, complete Carbon 

Management Plan, activate project list, complete projects to reduce CO2 emissions.

9. THE WELLBEING DUTY

9.1. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

9.2. By reducing energy use we will release money spent on utilities to be used elsewhere 
which could be used to improve the social welfare of the borough.  The corresponding 
reduction in CO2 will improve the environmental wellbeing of the borough.

Page 64



Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. The wellbeing assessment will inform the new strategy for Improving Wellbeing, which 

will centre on the seven wellbeing goals and the five ways of working.
9.4. Critical review of service strategies
9.5. Community benefit analysis (retention)
9.6. Long term community asset planning (retention)

CHERYLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER – NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES AND 

PUBLIC PROTECTION

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan – Annual delivery Document 2016/17

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? Choose an item.

Page 65

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/2274/corporate-plan-annual-delivery-document-201617-en.pdf


Appendix I Data

TITLE The percentage of council buildings (over 1000m2) with a Display Energy 
Certificate rating A to D

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2015/16 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 55 20 18 17 16 58

Wales 78

() () () () () ()

TITLE The average Display Energy Certificate score of council buildings (over 
1000m2)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2015/16 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 104 32 32 32 25 101

Wales 85.9

() () () () () ()

TITLE The value of capital receipts generated from the Property Review exercise

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT £68,342 £269,958.11 £231,802 £169,266 £250,000 NA

Wales NA NA NA NA NA NA NA
Difference NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

TITLE  The total costs of office accommodation 

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT £1,443,803 £1,207,947 £969,510 £827,531 -5% NA

Wales NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Difference NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Page 66



TITLE The net value of capital receipts

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT £756,668 £991,541.61 £1,208,426 £844,458 £750,000 NA

Wales NA NA NA NA NA NA NA
Difference NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

Page 67



Appendix II Initiatives

INITIATIVES Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Riverside Project 7.1

21st Century Schools 
programme – Afon Taf

7.2

21st Century Schools –  
Ysgol Y Graig, 

7.3

Corporate Asset Management 
Programme

7.4

Physical Regeneration 
Programme including VVP 
Programme

7.5

Condition Survey Programme 7.6

Page 68



PROJECT TITLE Riverside Project

PROJECT MANAGER Property & Estates Manager

DESCRIPTION The Riverside Project is a composite project that consists of 
infrastructure works at Merthyr Vale.  The aim is to implement as much 
as possible of the residential-led, mixed use, redevelopment of the 
disused Merthyr Vale Colliery (known as Project Riverside).  The 
scheme includes a primary school, which has already been built and is 
in use, together with residential dwellings (yet to be built) and ancillary 
land uses which may include a number of uses together with amenity 
areas.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The Riverside Scheme was devised to:
 Provide new residential units on the former reclaimed colliery 

site in Merthyr vale.
 Provide new infrastructure and linkages between the 

communities of Merthyr vale and Aberfan.
 Provide a new Primary School.
 Re-develop Taff Street and Crescent Street, which have 

suffered severe flooding on a regular basis.
 Provide ancillary uses. 

START DATE 2005

FINISH DATE ongoing

PROJECT UPDATE 18 January 2017

The infrastructure construction works are complete, which has 
facilitated the first marketing campaign of development areas. A 
disposal of part has been agreed and is proceeding to completion, 
although a completion date has not yet been confirmed.
The acquisition of the remaining properties in Taff and Crescent Street 
continue by negotiation. A Compulsory Purchase Order may be 
necessary in order to complete all acquisitions and obtain clean title. 

Page 69



PROJECT TITLE 21st Century Schools - Afon Taf School remodelling and refurbishment

PROJECT MANAGER Property & Estates Manager

DESCRIPTION The project comprises of the refurbishment and reconfiguration of Afon 
Taf High School to reduce the amount of surplus places and to improve 
the condition and suitability of the building to provide a school fit to 
provide education in the 21st Century.  

SOURCE Click here to enter text.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The main drivers for change include the urgent need to improve poor 
performance and pupil outcomes; to reduce surplus places; to improve 
the condition and suitability of the building and to tackle deprivation 
through providing better teaching and learning facilities.

START DATE 13 October 2014

FINISH DATE 30 March 2018

PROJECT UPDATE 18 January 2017

Interserve Construction was appointed in Autumn 2014 to undertake the 
project and have made good progress. The project was split into four 
phases and both phase 1 & 2 have been completed. Phase 3a was 
completed in October 2016 with completion of the project forecast to be 
July 2017, approximately 6 months earlier than expected. 

PROJECT TITLE 21st Century Schools – New primary school at Ysgol Y Graig, Cefn 
Coed

PROJECT MANAGER Property & Estates Manager

DESCRIPTION The project involves the construction of a new Primary School to 
replace the existing outdated Ysgol y Graig school and merge with 
Trefechan Nursery.

SOURCE Click here to enter text.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The project will provide a new state of the art Primary School

START DATE 01 April 2017

FINISH DATE 31 March 2019

PROJECT UPDATE 18 January 2017

The Project is currently undergoing a Public Consultation

Page 70



PROJECT TITLE Corporate Asset Management Programme

PROJECT MANAGER Property & Estates Manager

DESCRIPTION The Corporate Asset Management Plan was adopted by Council in April 
2014 and covers the period from 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2019.  
The plan includes details of our Asset Management priorities for the life 
of the plan, together with an action plan.
Priority actions identified in the Asset Management Plan relate to:

 Corporate Approach
 Energy Management
 Whole Life Costs
 Service Asset Management Plans
 Depot Review
 Building Management Data
 Property management/maintenance budgets
 Capital Receipts
 Property Review

SOURCE Corporate Asset Management Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) That the property portfolio is aligned to corporate priorities and service 
requirements, where appropriate investment is made in capital projects 
and where the portfolio is efficiently maintained, is fit for purpose and 
meets health and safety requirements.

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 March 2019

PROJECT UPDATE 18 January 2017

Whilst good progress has been made, further work is required to fully 
embed a corporate approach to property management. Energy 
management is a corporate risk and requires significant resources. In 
addition, budget restrictions affect the Councils ability to maintain the 
property portfolio effectively.

Page 71



PROJECT TITLE Physical Regeneration Programme including VVP Programme

PROJECT MANAGER Property & Estates Manager

DESCRIPTION Economic Development and Regeneration together with Corporate 
Property and Estates work closely to deliver the Physical Regeneration 
Programme which includes:
 Cyfarthfa Castle
 Penydarren Park
 North Merthyr Housing sites
 Miners Hall
 115 High street
 Project Connect (Bus Station)
 Orbit
 Parc Taff Bargoed

SOURCE Economic Development and Regeneration Service Asset Management 
Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) People in Merthyr benefit from a strong, sustainable and diverse 
economy and enjoy a vibrant, attractive and sustainable environment.

START DATE Various

FINISH DATE Ongoing

PROJECT UPDATE 18 January 2017

 Cyfarthfa Castle. Working with consultants on a development 
strategy.

 Penydarren Park. Main lease in place. Demolition of Amberley 
House complete.

 North Merthyr Housing sites. Marketing of a number of VVP housing 
sites are currently underway.

 Miners Hall. CPO under consideration
 115 High Street. In negotiations
 Project Connect (Bus Station). In progress
 Orbit. Ongoing management
 Parc Taff Bargoed. Ongoing management

Page 72



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 

prepare in advance for the next scrutiny committee meeting. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 

deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.  

 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 

and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions. 
 
Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 
and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 

Date Written 23rd January 2017 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Legal & Governance Services 
Committee Division Scrutiny  
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 30th January 2017 

Page 73

Agenda Item 9



e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 
difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 

f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 
resources? 

 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue  

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 
 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the corporate plan / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 
Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police,  Health Board etc 

 
Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 
Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 

and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 
 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 

You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 

Page 74



community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
3.3 Just so the scrutiny committees are aware the Council has seven key priorities as 

per the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment. 
 
These seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes and each of the 4 
Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of them. The 4 themes are:- 

 

• Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning)  
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services) 
Social Services Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside) 
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection) 
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee 

 
3.4 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 

have been developed each reflects the Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives. 

 
3.5  Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the Council’s 

corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny committees in 
this role. See appendix I for the “strategies of a page” 
 

3.6 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached. 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 75



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 76



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 77



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 78



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 79



Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 
Date / Timing Overarching 

Item 
Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member  

Scrutiny Focus  

4th July 2016 

Performance Cllr PW/ 
SP/Cllr DJ 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 7 Report.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan 
Service Performance Report (Neighbourhood).  An update on progress implementing the service 
strategy and the associated risks issues and challenges for example activities from the 
Performance Board challenge. 
 

Scrutiny 
report 

Update from 
Chair of 

Committee 

Feedback: - The Scrutiny Report “Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping and Litter in the County 
Borough” was presented to Cabinet on 15th June. The Chair is to provide feedback on the Cabinet 
meeting and Cabinets decision(s) 
 

26th September 2016 

Fly-tipping / 
Litter 

EC / CE / Cllr 
DJ / 

Appropriate 
Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - See report “Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping and Litter in the County 
Borough” agended at Cabinet on 29th June. Recommendation:- A report is presented to the 
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee within 3 months of this report 
being considered by Cabinet, on the progress of the Strategic Group, and also on progress in 
dealing with the fly-tipping and litter issues in the County Borough 
 

Recycling / 
landfill 

Published & 
Verified Data  

 

CE / Cllr DJ 
and 

appropriate 
Officer 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Recycling / Landfill performance data will have been published in 
August. A report to scrutiny providing details of the figures. 
 

Performance CE / Cllr DJ 
and 

appropriate 
Officer 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- Service Performance Report (Neighbourhood).  An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks,  issues and challenges for example 
activities from the Performance Board challenge. 
 

Performance 
(From last 
meeting 

Cllr PW/ CE 
/Cllr DJ / 
EMcW 

 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
An update on progress against the Corporate Plan, Priority Area 7 - “A Sustainable 
Environment” Link to report 
 

P
age 80

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s33073/Committee%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s33073/Committee%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s33110/Performance%20Report%20-%20A%20Sustainable%20Environment.pdf


Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

7th November 2016 

Performance As advised by 
Performance 

Dept 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Service Performance Report – Regulatory (Public Protection). An update on 
progress implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge. 
 

Annual 
Return: Fifth 
Assessment 
Framework for 
Welsh Public 
Library 
Standards 
2015/16.  
 

Jane Selwood 
– Libraries 

(TRUST) 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Earlier this year the committee ratified the Welsh Public Library Standards 
return. The Library Service reported on the performance of the service over the last year (first year 
as Trust). The response from the Welsh Government will be the subject of the item. 
 

19th December 2016 
 

Performance 
of Leisure 

Trust 

Richard March 
/ MT/JS / 

Wendy Groves 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  A 6 monthly update of progress and performance in achieving the 
stated targets and outcomes for the Trust. 
 
One of the Councils 7 Priority Areas as per the Corporate Plan is “Active Lifestyles” - By 2017, we 
want to see a sustained increase in the participation of physical activity from all residents in 
Merthyr Tydfil, and a contribution to improved health and well-being. 
 
In the Summary of the WAO Improvement Assessment 2015/16 Performance Assessment (Waste 
and Active Lifestyles (June 2016) they comment that “The Council is making progress on its 
planned improvements in waste services, and performance in its active lifestyles priority area is 
mixed but there are weaknesses in the Council’s performance information in these areas.” 
 
As the Leisure Trust is a key contributor towards our key priority, performance has dipped in the 
last 12 months and as such the Trust to give an update on performance and their efforts to 
improve performance. This item follows on from performance item on Active Lifestyles on 26th 
September. 

P
age 81



Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

Performance EMcW with 
appropriate 

Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 7 Report.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan 
Service Performance Report (Neighbourhood).  An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge. 
 

Key 
Transformation 
Budget Projects 
2016/17 
 

CLE + various, 
Cllr DJ 

Monitoring & Scrutiny : An update on key significant transformation budget projects for 2016/17 
• an update on Highways and Engineering 
 
(moved from Nov meeting – email CLE 18th August 2016) 

30th January 2017 

Performance CLE / MC & LE Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Service Performance Report (Corporate Property and Estates). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks,  issues and challenges for example 
activities from the Performance Board challenge. To include where you are Carbon Reduction 
strategy and plan for energy efficiency.    
 
 

Corporate Plan Ewan 
McWilliams 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 7 Report.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan 
Service Performance Report (Neighbourhood).  An update on progress implementing the service 
strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from the 
Performance Board challenge. 
 

Performance Steve Peters Scrutiny & Challenge:-   
Service Performance Report (Public Protection). An update on progress implementing the service 
strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from the 
Performance Board challenge. 
 

13th March 2017 

Fly-tipping / 
Litter 

GC/EC/Cllr 
BT/Cllr DJ and 
appropriate 

Officers 
Attendees as 
per 11th April 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - See report “Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping and Litter in the County 
Borough” agended at Cabinet on 15th June. Recommendation - A follow up meeting (similar to the 
scrutiny meeting on 11th April 2016) be scheduled by the Neighbourhood Services and Public 
Protection Scrutiny Committee on its work programme early next year. This will be a 
workshop/state of the union-style meeting 

P
age 82



Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

2016 

24th April 2017 
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
 
 
 
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
 
 
 
 

Performance  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Service Performance Report (Public Protection).  An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge. 
 

Additional items to 
consider for Work 
programme 

Crime and 
Disorder 

SP/Cllr DJ and 
appropriate 

officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  There have been significant changes following the demise of the 
Local Service Board and the introduction of the Joint Cwmtaf Public Service Board. The 
Committee requires a report on progress in order that it can resume scrutiny of the work 
of the community safety partners. 
 
The terms of reference of the committee are to scrutinise the work of the community 
safety partners insofar as their activities relate to the community safety activities of; 
substance misuse; anti-social behaviour; offender management; community cohesion; 
domestic abuse & sexual violence; and counter terrorism & extremism. 
 
The role of the committee in whichever form it is applied should be as a ‘critical friend’ of 
the Community Safety agencies, providing it with constructive challenge at a strategic level 
rather than adversarial fault-finding at an operational level. 

   
   
   
   

P
age 83



Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 
 

   

P
age 84


	Agenda
	3 Performance Report – Corporate Plan Priority Area 7 - A Sustainable Environment
	4 Performance Report – Community Safety
	5 Performance Report – Public Protection Service
	6 Performance Report – Corporate Property and Estates
	9 Scrutiny Work Programme
	Work Programme Report 2016 17
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	Strategies on a Page
	2 Neighbourhood_Services_descriptors_2016_17
	Annual Return: Fifth Assessment Framework for Welsh Public Library Standards 2015/16. 



